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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND OKIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Ridgely's Delight Historic District is a wedge-shaped area roughly bounded
by Fremont Avenue on the west, Conway Street on the south, Russell and
Green Streets on the east and Pratt Street on the north. The specific
district boundaries have been drawn to exclude the modern power station

on the northeast corner, which occupies the entire block bounded by Pratt -
Street on the north, Emory Street on the west, Portland Street on the
south and Green Street on the east.

The historic district represents a surviving fragment of a larger:neigh-
borhood which has been_constricted by modern, development,. , The constructiocn
of Russell Street in the 1930's eradlcated .a broad swath on- the.eastern
side of  the neighborhood. .Recent, demollt;pn of entire blocks. on-both

sides of Fremont Avenue and the south side of.Conway Street (1n1ant;c19a-
tion of the .proposed Clty Boulevard) has artlflclally separated - Rldgely s
Dellght from similar types of neighborhoods to the west. The expansion

of the University of Maryland complex has extended to the north side of
Pratt Street and forms a distinct boundary there.

-

However, within these artificially created boundaries exists a cohesive -—.
neighborhood, which by virtue of the "human" scale of its buildings and
the irregular streets with their self-contained, intimate vistas, still
possesses its original 19th century character.

To call the scale of Ridgely's Delight "human" implies an intimacy be-
tween structures and people and a consistency-in the elements of the
streetscape. The strength of the ‘human scale is thé primary asset of
Ridgely's Delight and most readily dlstlngulshes the neighborhood from
"its environs. There are no buildings in the district that are truly
overwhelming. Both residential and commercial propertles co-exist in

harmony.

The major threat to scale is the heavy traffic which reqularly uses
Russell Street and Fremont Avenue. Similarly, traffic on Washington
Boulevard is disruptive at times.

The street pattern is an essential ingredient of the visual character of
the district. Only the northernmost blocks follow strictly the North-South
grid used in the bulk of the City. Washington Boulevard, which predates
the district, runs southwest from the northeast corner of the district,
and determines the remainder of the plat. Streets and alleys which join
the boulevard are generally perpendicular to it. South Fremont similarly
predates most development, and with Washington Boulevard is responsible
for the shapes of the several triangular blocks in the midsection of the
district. The visual result is a number of closed vistas along streets
and alleys contributing significantly to the scale of the area. This
design also provides the block interiors with picturesque spaces rarely

See continuation sheet #7.
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equalled in the Standard grig blocks. The intersection of Penn Stree
and ‘Melvin Drive is a prime example of this; jtg Southeast corner has
recently been made into an interior park. The "y" of alleys in the

block west of Emory Street is a similar feature, but in poor conditio
There are some local plans to close one of itg legs for a vVest-pocket

that way; in other cases they are explained by whim, 1In 3131 cases the:
are a welcome relief from the Severity of strict at-easement facades,
and their random location Provides a variety and texture lacking where

one extreme is the rule,

Typically, a building in Ridgely's Delight is a brick row-housé& one
family residence of two or three bays, and two, two and one half or
three stories, built at the bProperty line. The roof is either flat wit
cornice or gabled with one dormer, Sally-ports at sidewalk level or
below are common, generally placed between two houses,

The typical houses of Ridgely's Delight may be described in two ways,
by size ang relative elegance, or by period ang style. 1In general,

the earlier houses are the smaller, and were occupied by a less affluent
class of People than the larger and later houses, In many cases, the
latter were modified to conform in size ang Style to the former, This

See continuation sheet 8.
GPD 832 4558
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while the ridge was parallel to the street, with a single central dormer
Where details occur, as on the gable of the dormer, they are either late
Federal -or early Greek Revival. Entrances were normally at the side

of the house opposite the chimney side, alternating with neighboring
buildings, so that the street had a rhythm of paired doors alte;natlng
with coupled chimneys. The very earliest of these were built with en-
trances at street level (713 Pratt).  Of those that remain, the rule

is a first floor above a small basement (524-532 Paca). Occasional three
bay facades occur (604 Washington Boulevard). Common bond is the rule.

The next phase of the development is a continuous and gradual transition
from the houses described above, to the elaborate Italianate rowhouses
of the 1860's and 70's. The Federal townhouse first had the slope of
its gable lessened (633-645 Melvin). The height of the facade increased
to two and one half storys,2 and the proportions of fenestration changed
accordingly (626-632 Paca), i.e., they became taller. Often first story
orenings were round arched. The half story windows began as very low,
flat, rectangles, and gradually increased to nearly square, but still
distinguishable as only half a story-(624 Paca). Shortly after the addi-
tion of this story, the dormers began to disappear and by the time the
third story arrived, were gone completely (649-653 Washington Boulevard).
From this point the jump to the Italianate house was rapid. The gable
roof is replaced by a corniced flat roof. The first cornices were reti-
cently designed (932 sS. Paca), usually no more than two or three courses
of brick headers laid with alternating depressions or in courses of in-
Ccreasing offset from the plane of the facade. Wooden bracketed cornices
and metal cornices of true Greek detail were the next phase (607 Paca,
637-39 Paca)., 1In the wooden versions, jogsaw cutouts in the barges be-
tween the brackets (for ventillating the roof spaces) became popular
during the 1870's (615 Washington Boulevard). Three-bay houses became
more common than two-bay houses. The fenestration of these later houses
was always of very tall proportions, and generally 2/2, but the details
varied widely. Brick or metal eyebrows or hoods became popular over
segmental arched windows and doors and the actual windows proportions
sometimes became radically attenuated (674 S. Paca). Stained glass
appeared in transom-lights over doors and windows (although little is
left in Ridgeley's Delight, e.g. 663 Portland).

Brickwork remained common bond, although the bricks themselves became
flatter. 1In a few rare and late houses, elaborate variations of brick-
work were found (e.g., 601 S. Paca). The Italianate houses stand on the

2

604,608, (probably 610 [formstone]) 620 and 622 Washington Boulevard

are two-story, two-bay gable and dormer (604 is three-bay) with flemish
bond faces.

See contimratian ~v . e
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major étreets. Minor streets and alleys contain mostly the smaller
Federal houses.

This is’a district of row-buildings. There are no free-standing struc-
tures (except for the gas station). Some of the set back houses have
one side wall free. A nearly universal feature of all types of row-
houses is 'back buildings'. In the earliest cases they were once free-
standing summer kitchens and utility buildings which became connected
to the houses by subsequent intervening structures (643 Washington
Boulevard). Later in the 19th Century they were built contiguous to
the house proper.- Narrower than the house itself, they often had pro-
menade porches on one side, usually facing that of a neighbor (626 and

628 Washington Boulevard).

There are several Structures in Ridgely's Delight which do not fall into
the categories of typical houses. These include the larger light-indus-
trial structures in the northwest corner along Pratt Street where style
and materials harmonize with the neighborhood and which furthermore act

as a buffer to heavy traffic.

Several other structures also differ from the norm or are of particular
interest; they include:

337-339 South Fremont Avenue is a remarkable late Victorian brick
adaptation of an Italian Palazzo for commercial use. The brickwork and
detail are extremely fine; the facade composition is of a quality rarely
exceeded in west Baltimore, sophisticated and in scale with the neighbor-
hood. The second and third floors were used as the ever popular and am-
biguous "halls," the first floor commercial or light industry,

401 South Fremont is an evolutionary end point of Victorian com-
mercial architecture. Continuous horizontal banding of several indivi-
dual brick courses give a 'moderne' look to the segmental arch windows,
overhanging bay window and metal cornice that are Victorian holdovers

1n an Edwardian building.

612, 614 and 616 Washington Boulevard are one building which con-
tinues north through the block to Portland Street and has been industrial/
commercial since the late 1870's. The Washington Boulevard facade
appears to have been originally three separate houses and has a cast iron
shop front across the entire first story.

See continuation sheet #10
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684 Washington Boulevard was once a set~-back three-story structure
(the only one on the north side of the block) to which a tiny temple front
bank was added at the ecasement line in the 1930's, a doric one-story
structure with wings and a pediment with outsize acroteria.

600 Washington Boulevard (circa 1910) makes the most strident appeal
to high style in the area. The Georgian Revival commercial building has
such details as dressed stone quoins, carved cartouches in the arches of
the first floor windows, and a roof with pedimented wall dormmers which
are unique to the drea. The irregular plan, which is a response to the
wedge-shaped corner lot, is perfectly consistent with the continuous
fabric of the neighborhood. The flair of the design serves as an
appropriate entrance to the neighborhood.

655 West Pratt Strect is notable for its true mansard roof with
dormer, the only one in Ridgely's Delight. The Second Empire style was
never popular in Baltimore; hence, such a structure is a rarity. The
building, dating from the 1870's is a three-bay, three-story house
with brick segmental arch eyebrow windows, now converted to commercial use.

641 Washington Boulevard is a four-story commercial building which
fills its entire lot. The property is of conventional residential eidth
and over one hundred feet long. The early 20th century commercial style
building is remarkable for its size and proportions.

635, 637, 639, 641, 643, and 645 Washington Boulevard and 609, 611
and 634 Paca Street are notable as set-back houses with postage stamp front

yards.

Behind 635 Washington Boulevard is a series of garages built before
1925 by Dr. Merriam, which are reputed to have been the first speculative

rental garages in Baltimore.

There is only one genuine intrusion in Ridgely's Delight, the gas
station at the southeast corner of Russell Street and Washington Bcule-
vard, occupying 1/2 acre or 2% of the district. It stands on the site of
an extremely fine Federal house.

The homesteading activity in Ridgely's Delight began in 1974, and to
this date, May 25, 1978, 28 houses have been awarded. Baltimore City is in
the process of acgquiring 41 additional houses for homesteading here.

Restoration is also being accomplished by several major private de-
velopers; their properties total more than 150. Private individual
restoration is rapidly increasing.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The Ridgély"s Delight ‘Historic District feprésenfs d ‘subStantial dnd well
presérved fragment“of the “largé neighborhoods which "devélopéd during '~
Baltimore's first period of expansion in the’'early '19th century. "It is_
furthermore "exemplary '6f the manner 'in which 'Baltimore heighbdrhocds have
riser and developed, both socially and architecturally, and covers & “span
of time equal 'to any within the ¢ity's ‘hisStory of expansion béyond its
original incorporated boundaries. The District's residential structures
range from the two or two and a half story late Federal houses represent-
ing the first phase of row house development in Baltimore, to the more
substantial three-story corniced Italianate versions built for the middle
and upper classes toward the end of the 19th century. Frequently the
latter type represents a modernization of the former. With few exceptions,
the street pattern adheres to that surveyed and recorded by Thomas
Poppleton in his plan of 1823. The majority of the development occurred
between 1830 and 1870, following a rather cohesive pattern that reflects
Ridgely's Delight conception as an urban neighborhood and which was
"""" s the establish-

ment of the University of Maryland médical facilities.
-~ . - AP S SO AR X ‘)-1 . \“..-4-- .. AR L R R -y s e ™
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During its heyday_in_the latter half of the 19th century, Ridgely's
Delight was a prospercus middle class neighborhdod; Thowever, within re-
cent decades the area has undergone gradual deterioration. It has be-

come a low-rent, lower class neighborhood and its buildings have suffered
from lack of maintenance as well as abandonment. Through this decay and
modern development on the fringes, the larger original neighborhood has
been greatly constricted. However, within the remaining area, the historic
fabric has been protected from modernization, the street pattern left
intact, and neighborhood integrity maintained making this isolated neigh-
borhood an even greater phenomenon in light of its surroundings.

Today a rebirth for this historic neighborhood in Southwest Baltimore
seems to be dawning. A rising number of houses are being rehabilitated
as middle class housing, and selected properties are being developed
through the City's Urban Homesteading Program.

See continuation sheet  #11
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The Ridgely's Delight neighborhood is the namesake of one of the early
agricultural estates, that of Charles Ridgely, which occupied the open
land outside of the City's original boundaries. As one of the earliest
graphic records of Baltimore shows,l at the turn of the 19th century

the southwest portion of land consisted primarily of the estates of
Ridgely and Judge McHenry, among others, as well as a collection of
smaller houses located on the established roads. The rectangular street
grid of Baltimore pProper had been established as far west as Green Stree
and beyond thisg the major thoroughfares were Cove Street (later Fremont
Avenue), which ran from the open country in the northwest Southeasterly
to the Patapsco River, and Alexandria or Columbia Pike (Washington '
Boulevard) which ran westerly and served as the main artery to

Washington.

The Thomas Poppleton survey which was coordinated with the plan to expang
Baltimore's boundaries, was made in 1816 and published in 1823. In his
Survey, he continued the Street grid beyond Green Street, However, the
New streets and lots were aligned with the existing cove and columbia
roads rather than following the regular street patterns to the east. The
Streets as delineated on the 1823 map form the basic pattern found today.
While in 1823 the area was primarily open land, at least two houses on
Poppleton's Map remain extant (637 Washington Boulevard and 713 West

A large portion of the development of Ridgely's Delight occurred betweenf
1816 and 1875 with particular intensity during the 1840's and 50's. i
There was sufficient population by 1842 to warrant the construction of

(circa 1840), and the Hayward and Bartlett Company (1851), a11 located
on Pratt Street to the west of Fremont Avenue,

century iron foundry at Portlang and Fremont Streects and expanding into
an area with a wide range of productions including a flour mill, a paint
and oil factory and a silver beating manufactory, Within the neighbor-
See continuatian sheet #12
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hood were several craftsmen who supported these industries, such as
carpenters, blacksmiths, and other metal workers. Other artisans and
small merchants such as cobblers, coal and wood dealers, slaughterers,
grocers, bakers and hostlers had their residences and shops throughout
the area. A number of first floor storefronts appear in the western end
of Washington Boulevard. Other light industry was scattered throughout

the area.

Ridgely's Delight stabilized during the later 19th century. Paca Street,
Washington Boulevard and portions of Fremont Avenue became the sites of
larger middle class homes; three-bay, three-story houses with flat roofs
and elaborate cornices which were often expansions and elaborations of
the earlier and more modest gable-roofed houses. Simultaneously back
Streets and block interiors were filled with more modest housing for
craftsmen and service persons, often alongside light industry.

The street pattern was changed slightly by the continuation of Penn Street
south of Melvin Drive. Later during the Roosevelt Administration, Greene
Street was extended south of Portland to become the northern extension of
Russell Street, connecting downtown Baltimore with the new Baltimore
Washington Parkway. This development relieved Washington Boulevard

of Washington bound traffic, and at the same time eradicated a large

- for the Program are scattered throughout an occupied area, rather than
being an entire vacant quarter. The program has been successful, and
shows every sign of continuing so. There has Ekeen private restoration
and even speculative restoration on a large scale.

The architecture of Ridgely's Delight is unified in two ways, stylisti-
cally and physically. The physical relationship consists in the fact
~that it is almost entirely contiguous and intact. There are no free-
standing buildings in Ridgely's Delight, (although Occassionally a house
will have one freestanding wall), and it is significant that except for
those houses which predated the Poopleton Plan, even the earliest struc-
tures seem to have been designed with that intent in mind, i.e., all
houses were meant to be part of a row, whether they were built simultan-
eously with contiguous neighbors or not, Clearly, Ridgely's Delight

See continuation sheet #13

DA aAs e



Fore Yo 10 3008
(Rev 10-74)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

RECEIVED
NATIONALREGISTeR OF HISTGUIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATICN FCRM

DATE ENTERED

Ridgely's Delight Historic District
Baltimore City,
CONTINUATION SHEET Maryland ITEM NUMBER 8 PAGE 13

was conceived as an urban neighborhood, and its development is one of in-
tensification of the patterns established at its outset, yielding only
slightly to increases in wealth and stylistic trends.

The stylistic relationships of the area are unified by a fifty year time
span, centered roughly in 1845, which defines the period of most intensive
development. As in the rest of Baltimore, styles in Ridgely's Delight
tend to reflect later dates than in the rest of the major eastern cities,
owing to the reluctance of Baltimore builders to relinquish a style to
which they had become accustomed. This conservatism provides Ridgely's
Delight with a sequence of Late Federal rowhouses which date from the
early 1830's into the 1850's. The characteristics of this span are dis-
tinct at both ends: the earliest are two-bay, two-story houses with
steep gable roofs and central dormers; the latest are two or three bays
wide, on basements, two and one half stories in height, with shallow
Gable roofs and central dormers.

By the time that this latter development had arrived, the second phase of
house had already begun to spring up, a three-story, two-bay house with a
flat roof. As the century progressed, these houses became larger and more”
elaborate, by the 1870's becoming full blown Italiante houses with intri-
cate cornices. In some cases it can be demonstrated that an Italiante
house is an enlargement and 'modernization' of a Federal house (637

Melvin Drive).

Having evolved as an urban neighborhood from its conception, Ridgely's
Delight is both a highly unified yet diverse collection of mid-19th
century structures sandwiched between industry and other intrusions which
continues to exist as a cohesive urban fragment in search of revitaliza-

tion and rebirth. -

1
Warner & Hanna -- "The Incorporated City of Baltimore As It Looked In

1801", (Peabody Institute facsimile, 1947, Baltimore, Maryland).
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curb of S, Fremont Ave.; thence northerly along saij
of origin. This boundary encloses the historic pr
Delight while excluding the intrusive neighboring
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BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundaries of the Ridgely's Delight Historic District are
determined by strong visual and physical barriers that make this
district a distinct and well-defined entity. These barriers are on
the east of Russel Street, a multilaned roadway with mixed commercial
and industrial areas beyond; on the south and west by Conway Street
and Freemont Avenue which are areas that are being redeveloped for
parkland on the south and a highway to the west; and on the north by
Pratt Street and Portland Street with the University of Maryland
complex beyond. Although the district includes a few pockets of vacant
land created by recent demolition, the district's boundaries are
drawn to include the highest incidence of historic and cultural fabric
while excluding the non-contributing areas such as along Pratt Street
east of Emory Street and to utilize such lines of convenience as
existing curblines which are emphasized by the above mentioned visual
and physical barriers. The eastern and southern boundaries are
further defined by a brick wall that was erected in part as a sound

barrier along the highway. ,

The photographs and map submitted as documentation in this
application do fairly accurately represent the present appearance of
the Ridgely's Delight Historic District. Although limited rehabilitatior
work has taken place in selected areas, no more demolition has occurred
since the photographs were taken and the map drawn.

The Ridgely's Delight Historic District contains approximately
395 structures.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
BEginning-at the .southeast corner of the intersection of West Pratt Stree
and South Fremont Avenue, proceed easterly 'along the south curb of-W, -
Pratt St. to its intersection with the west curb of Emory St.; thence
southerly along the west curb of Emory St., following its “line to its
intersection with the south curb of Portland St.; thence easterly along

said curb of portland st. to its intersection with the west ‘curb’ of
See Continunation Sheet
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STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER CERTIFICATION

" THE EVALUATED SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS PROPERTY WITHIN THE STATEIS:
STATE LOCAL X

NATIONAL __

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-665). 1
hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated according to the

criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.
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